No. 23-CF-0344

(Superior Court No. 2021-CF3-004336)

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



EMANUEL LEYTON PICON,

APPELLANT

v.

UNITED STATES,

APPELLEE

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division (Hon. Robert Okun, Trial Judge)

SUPPLEMENTAL REPLY BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Matthew B. Kaplan D.C. Bar No. 484760 1100 N. Glebe Rd. Suite 1010 Arlington, VA 22201 (703) 665-9529 mbkaplan@thekaplanlawfirm.com Attorney for Appellant Appointed by the Court

ARGUMENT

I. <u>RECENT DECISIONS</u>

In his Reply Brief Leyton reviewed the then-existent federal appellate decisions that addressed the Second Amendment rights of under-21-year-olds that had been decided after the Supreme Court's decision in *N.Y. State Rifle & Pistol Ass'n v. Bruen*, 597 U.S. 1 (2022), established the modern framework for interpreting the Second Amendment. There have now been additional appellate decisions.

¹ Leyton adopts the arguments made by the Public Defender Service for the District of Columbia in its amicus brief.

A. Worth v. Jacobson

One of the cases Leyton relied on in his Reply Brief was *Worth v. Jacobson*, 108 F.4th 677 (8th Cir. 2024), which supports his view that the District's prohibition on firearms for people aged 18-20 is unconstitutional. *Worth* held that a Minnesota law that "bans those under 21 years old from carrying handguns in public" violated the Second Amendment, as interpreted by *Bruen. Id.* at 683. The Supreme Court has now denied certiorari. *Jacobson v. Worth*, 221 L. Ed. 2d 664 (2025).

B. Lara v. Commissioner Pennsylvania State Police ("Lara II")

Leyton also discussed *Lara v. Commissioner Pennsylvania State Police* (*Lara I*), 91 F.4th 122, 126-27 (3d Cir. 2024), which held that a Pennsylvania statute that "effectively bans 18-to-20-year-olds from carrying firearms outside their homes during a state of emergency" violated the Second Amendment. After Leyton's Reply Brief was filed, the Supreme Court summarily reversed and remanded the case "for further consideration in light of *United States v. Rahimi*, [602 U.S. 680 (2024)]." *Paris v. Lara*, 145 S. Ct. 369 (2024). However, on remand, the Third Circuit "determined that *Rahimi* sustains our prior analysis" and, consequently, reaffirmed its prior ruling in an opinion that largely repeats the original decision's analysis and conclusion. *Lara v. Comm'r Pa. State Police*

(*Lara II*), 125 F.4th 428, 431 (3d Cir. 2025); *see also id*. ("Much of what follows is repetitive of our earlier decision.").

C. Reese v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, & Explosives

In January of this year, in *Reese v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms*, & *Explosives*, 127 F.4th 583, 586 (5th Cir. 2025), *mot. to extend until May 30*, 2025 time to seek cert. granted (U.S. Apr. 21, 2025) (No. 24A997), the Fifth Circuit struck down two provisions of federal law "which together prohibit Federal Firearms Licensees from selling handguns to eighteen-to-twenty-year-old adults." Like other courts, the Fifth Circuit began its analysis by setting out the test *Bruen* established for determining Second Amendment constitutionality: "First, courts must determine whether 'the Second Amendment's plain text covers an individual's conduct.' If so, 'the Constitution presumptively protects that conduct,' and '[t]he government must then justify its regulation by demonstrating that it is consistent with the Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation." *Id.* at 588 (citations omitted) (quoting *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 24).

Addressing the "plain text" prong of this test, the Fifth Circuit rejected the government's contention that 18–21-year-olds were not included among "the

² Reese explicitly overruled National Rifle Ass'n, Inc. v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, & Explosives, 700 F.3d 185 (5th Cir. 2012), a case relied upon by the government and the District, because that case is "incompatible with the Bruen and Rahimi decisions of the Supreme Court." 127 F.4th at 586.

people" whose right to bear arms was protected, describing one of the government's principal arguments as "nonsensical." Id. at 590-96. And, at the test's second prong, it found that the government had not met its burden because it "presented scant evidence that eighteen-to-twenty-year-olds' firearm rights during the founding-era were restricted in a similar manner to the contemporary federal handgun purchase ban." Id. at 600. The court made it clear that, when it came to finding analogues to challenged modern firearms regulations, the relevant period was the 1791 enactment of the Second Amendment, not the 1868 ratification of the Fourteenth Amendment. Id. ("'[T]he scope of the protection applicable to the Federal Government and States is pegged to the public understanding of the right when the Bill of Rights was adopted in 1791.") (quoting *Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 37); see also id. at 599 ("Proceeding past the bounds of founding-era analogues ... is risky").

D. Rocky Mountain Gun Owners v. Polis

In November 2024 the Tenth Circuit upheld a Colorado statute that increased the minimum age to purchase a firearm from 18 to 21. *Rocky Mt. Gun Owners v. Polis*, 121 F.4th 96, 104 (10th Cir. 2024). The court applied *Bruen*, though it thought it unnecessary to go beyond the first, textual step of the *Bruen* test. *Id.* at 120. It rejected Colorado governor Polis's contention that 18-20-year-olds were not protected by the Amendment "because 18 -to 20-year-olds were not

part of the political community at the Founding," explaining that "[w]hatever the definite contours of who 'the people' encompasses, we reject the notion that it is limited to only the class of persons with full legal rights, including the right to vote, at the time of the Founding or otherwise." *Id.* at 115 (citation omitted). However, according to the Tenth Circuit, the challenged statute was not inconsistent with the Second Amendment's text because it did not infringe on the "right to bear arms." Id. at 120. This was so because it only prohibited 18–20year-olds from purchasing firearms—they could still possess and own them. *Id.* ("We ... hold that laws imposing conditions and qualifications on the sale and purchase of arms do not implicate the plain text of the Second Amendment.").3 In reaching its conclusion, the court observed that the interpretation of the Second Amendment "is anchored to the Second Amendment's original meaning at the time of the Founding." *Id.* at 114.

E. NRA v. Bondi

In March of this year, in *National Rifle Ass'n v. Bondi*, 133 F.4th 1108 (11th Cir. 2025), *petit. for cert filed* (U.S. May 16, 2025) (No. _____), a divided en banc Eleventh Circuit upheld Florida's prohibition of the purchase of firearms by

³ The court also pointed to dicta in *District of Columbia v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570 (2008), suggesting that there is a "presumption of legality for 'laws imposing conditions and qualifications on the commercial sale of arms." *Polis*, 121 F.4th at 119 (quoting *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626-27).

minors. The parties in the case agreed that persons aged 18-20 should be deemed members of "the people" for Second Amendment purposes. With that not in dispute, the court focused on the ability of minors to purchase firearms during the period it thought relevant—"the Founding era." *Id.* at *13; see also id. at *15 ("The Second Amendment was ratified, and its meaning fixed, in 1791."). According to *Bondi*'s majority, during that era common law restrictions on the ability of minors to contract meant that, as a practical matter, "minors could not purchase weapons for themselves." Id. at *25. The majority then reasoned that, because persons aged 18-20 "could not purchase weapons for themselves" in colonial times, it was constitutional for the modern-day Florida legislature to prohibit such purchases by persons of the same age. Id. at *25, 33. The opinion did not suggest that there was any Founding Era prohibition on minors possessing firearms. Indeed, it noted that 18–20-year-olds were expected to have a firearm so that they could perform their militia obligations, though it suggested that these weapons were often parent-provided. *Id.* at *23-25.⁴

⁴ As a dissenting judge pointed out, *Bondi*'s conclusion that 1790s minors could not purchase firearms was based on an unconvincing chain of attenuated inferences and ignored direct evidence that minors could make such purchases. *Id.* at *131-36 (Branch, J., dissenting).

F. These Recent Decisions Provide Further Support for Leyton's Position

A few aspects of these recent cases are particularly relevant to Leyton's appeal. Notably, *Worth* and *Lara II*, the two cases involving restrictions comparable to those challenged in this case—a ban on carrying handguns in public and on the possession of any firearm (and ammunition) anywhere—declared those restrictions to be unconstitutional. Moreover, while *Polis* and *Bondi* upheld purchase restrictions, it is clear from the reasoning of those cases that the results would have been different if a prohibition on carrying or possessing, as opposed to purchasing, had been at issue. And, in the wake of *Reese*, which vacated a purchase ban, there can be no doubt that the Fifth Circuit would strike down bans on carrying or possession by young adults comparable to those now in place in the District.

II. RESPONSE TO ARGUMENTS

A. Minors in the 1790s Were Not Rightless Individuals at the Mercy of Legislatures

The government's and District's view that, at its enactment, the Second Amendment did not apply to anyone under 21 relies on a misunderstanding of the legal status of persons under 21 at that time. Then, as now, the legal autonomy of minors was restricted. But minors were not a class of persons, like slaves or (in the eyes of many) free Blacks, who were understood to have no meaningful rights.

See, e.g., Scott v. Sandford, 60 U.S. 393, 407 (1857) (Black persons "had no rights which the white man was bound to respect"). The legal disabilities imposed on them were meant to protect their rights—and especially their property rights—from their own excesses and from abuse by others until they came of age. See Gov't Suppl. Br. at 14 ("their very disabilities are privileges" for their protection) (quoting 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England 452-53 (1765)). To this end, minors (even with the consent of their parents) were not permitted to "do any act to the injury of their property, which they may not avoid or rescind when they arrive at full age." II James Kent, Commentaries on American Law 191 (1827).

Moreover, as is still the case, the law assumed that parents would act to support and protect their children. *See* Blackstone, *supra*, at 434 ("THE duty of parents to provide for the maintenance of their children is a principle of natural law"). Consequently, it is true that "[f]ounding-era parents retained substantial authority to supervise [their children] under the age of 21." Dist. Br. at 18. But the right to bear arms codified in the Second Amendment is a limitation on governments, not parents. It does not follow that, if parents in the early republic could prevent their 18-20-year-old children from owning or carrying a firearm, that governments could do the same.

Furthermore, there is reason to doubt the government's and the District's portrait of Founding Era 18-20-year-olds as incapable of exercising substantial independence from a parent or guardian. George Washington, having previously been the official surveyor of a Virginia county, became a major in the Virginia militia before he turned 21.⁵ Benjamin Franklin travelled with a single friend to London on a business venture, at the urging of Pennsylvania's governor, when he was 18.⁶ And John Quincy Adams, born in 1767, was secretary to the U.S. Minister to Russia when he was 14.⁷ Surely Washington, Franklin, and Adams would have deemed themselves part of "the people," even though under 21.

⁵ Nat'l Archives, *Commission as Adjutant for Southern District*, 13 December 1752, Founders Online, https://founders.archives.gov/documents/ Washington/02-01-02-0024 (last visited May 11, 2025); Libr. of Cong., *Washington as Public Land Surveyor*, George Washington Papers, https://www.loc.gov/collections/george-washington-papers/articles-and-essays/ george-washington-survey-and-mapmaker/washington-as-public-land-surveyor/ (last visited May 11, 2025); Nat'l Archives, *George Washington's Birthday*, The Ctr. for Legis. Archives, https://www.archives.gov/legislative/features/washington (last visited May 11, 2025).

⁶ Hazel Wilkinson, *Benjamin Franklin's London Printing 1725–26*, 110 Papers of the Bibliographical Soc'y of Am. 139, 142 (2016); Libr. of Cong., *Timeline*, Benjamin Franklin Papers, https://www.loc.gov/collections/benjamin-franklin-papers/articles-and-essays/timeline/ (last visited May 11, 2025).

⁷ U.S. Dep't of State, Office of the Historian, *Biographies of the Secretaries of State: John Quincy Adams*, https://history.state.gov/departmenthistory/people/adams-john-quincy (last visited May 11, 2025).

B. The Age of Legal Adulthood Was Not Frozen in the 1790s

The government is wrong when it says, Gov't Suppl. Br. at 22, that, if Leyton's view is adopted, 18-20-year-olds would lose their Second Amendment rights if a jurisdiction's legislature returned the age of majority to 21. The contemporary age for full enjoyment of constitutional rights is not the result of a specific statutory change, but of a general societal consensus, reflected in the Twenty-Sixth Amendment, that 18 is now the age of adulthood. As the Supreme Court has explained, today "18 is the point where society draws the line for many purposes between childhood and adulthood." Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 574 (2005). The age of adulthood is not frozen at 21 simply because that was the prevalent Founding Era common law rule. As the Founders knew, the common law evolves. Hurtado v. California, 110 U.S. 516, 530 (1884) ("flexibility and capacity for growth and adaptation is the peculiar boast and excellence of the common law"); Day v. United States, 682 A.2d 1125, 1129 (D.C. 1996) ("the common law itself is not frozen in the past but continues to develop").

While the scope of what was protected by the Second Amendment was set upon ratification, the same is not true as to who was protected. Even if it did not originally do so, the Amendment now protects Native Americans, women, non-Whites, and 18-20-year-olds.⁸

C. Legislatures Do Not Have Broad Discretion to Exclude Classes of Law-Abiding Persons from the Second Amendment

According to the District, legislatures have historically had "discretion to categorically disarm classes of people," and the D.C. Council's decision to do so with respect to 18-to-21-year-olds is a proper exercise of that discretion. Dist. Br. at 34.9 Furthermore, the Council's action is, in the District's view, consistent with both prongs of *Bruen*'s test: people 18-20-years-old are not "people" protected by the Amendment's plain text because the Council says they are not, and, in any event, the past disarmament of disfavored groups provides the necessary historical analogue to permit the disarming of this disfavored group.

⁸ Lara II rejected the contention that "a Bruen analysis requires excluding individuals from 'the people' if they were so excluded at the founding." It explained that

[[]t]hat argument conflates *Bruen*'s two distinct analytical steps. Although the government is tasked with identifying a historical analogue at the second step of the analysis we are not limited to looking through that same retrospective lens at the first step. If, at step one, we were rigidly limited by eighteenth-century conceptual boundaries, "the people" would consist solely of white, landed men, and that is obviously not the state of the law.

Lara II, 125 F.4th at 437 (citation omitted).

⁹ For its part, the government seems to say that legislatures have plenary authority to disarm members of groups not comprised of "responsible citizens." Gov't Principal Br. at 42.

The District explains that among those deprived of their right to bear arms before 1791 were "Catholics who refused to disavow their faith," "Puritans," "Native Americans, enslaved persons, religious minorities," and individuals who refused to "swear loyalty to their state." Dist. Br. at 35-36. Consequently, it reasons, laws disarming young adults are proper because they are "in this tradition." *Id.* at 38.

But these examples of legislative abuses highlighted by the District compellingly illustrate the absurdity of its position. A right is meaningless if a legislature can simply exclude from that right any group it thinks might abuse it. Accepting such legislative authority would be inconsistent with the Second Amendment's purpose of preventing the government from disarming the people.

More specifically, the District's position is inconsistent with *Rahimi*. *Rahimi*'s constitutional challenge to his conviction was rejected only because Rahimi himself had been "found by a court to pose a credible threat to the physical safety of another." 602 U.S. at 702. As Leyton has explained, *Rahimi* rejected the government's argument in that case (made also in the government's Principal Brief in this case) that a legislature can disarm anyone it deems not "responsible." Reply Br. at 18 (citing *Rahimi*, 602 U.S. at 701). Justice Thomas dissented in *Rahimi*, but agreed with the majority's rejection of the contention that anyone deemed

"irresponsible" was not Second Amendment-protected. He explained that, in support of this argument "[b]efore the Court of Appeals,"

the Government pointed to colonial statutes disarming classes of people deemed to be threats, including slaves, and native Americans. It argued that since early legislatures disarmed groups considered to be "threats," a modern Congress has the same authority. The problem with such a view should be obvious. Far from an exemplar of Congress's authority, the discriminatory regimes the Government relied upon are cautionary tales. They warn that when majoritarian interests alone dictate who is "dangerous," and thus can be disarmed, disfavored groups become easy prey. One of many such examples was the treatment of freed blacks following the Civil War. "[M]any of the over 180,000 African-Americans who served in the Union Army returned to the States of the old Confederacy, where systematic efforts were made to disarm them and other blacks." McDonald v. Chicago, 561 U.S. 742, 771 (2010).

The Government peddles a modern version of the governmental authority that led to those historical evils. Its theory would allow federal majoritarian interests to determine who can and cannot exercise their constitutional rights. While Congress cannot revive disarmament laws based on race, one can easily imagine a world where political minorities or those with disfavored cultural views are deemed the next "dangers" to society.

Rahimi, 602 U.S. 680, 775-76 (2024) (cleaned up) (Thomas, J., dissenting).

The poor are a disfavored group that could be disarmed under the reasoning of the government and the District. In the Colonial Era many states barred men who could not meet a property qualification from voting, and such restrictions

were not completely eliminated until 1856. *Reese*, 127 F.4th 592 & n.4. To support its contention that the Second Amendment does not protect young adults, the government observes that, at the Constitutional Convention, Gouverneur Morris "warned that under-21-year-olds 'want prudence' and 'have no will of their own." Gov't Principal Br. at 34 (quoting James Madison, *Notes on the Debates in the Federal Convention*, Tuesday, August 7, 1787, Yale L. Sch. Avalon Project, https://perma.cc/QJ7B-D4J4 (reporting Morris's views)); *see also* Dist. Br. at 17 (quoting the same). But it neglects to mention that the point that Morris was making was that persons "who have no property" should be denied the right to vote because they were just as "ignorant [and] Dependent" as persons under 21. Madison, *supra*.

It is true, as the District points out, that *Rahimi* said that "[w]e do not suggest that the Second Amendment prohibits the enactment of laws banning the possession of guns by categories of persons thought by a legislature to present a special danger of misuse...." Dist. Br. at 21 (quoting *Rahimi*, 602 U.S. at 698). But this dictum about what *Rahimi* did not decide must be read in conjunction with that case's rejection of the contention that Congress has unfettered authority to designate a group as being excluded from the Second Amendment's protection because of its supposed dangerousness. The "categories of persons" the Court was likely thinking of are groups such as persons convicted of violent crimes and

individuals found to have a significant mental illness. *See Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626 (nothing in opinion meant to "cast doubt on longstanding prohibitions on the possession of firearms by felons and the mentally ill").

D. The Supposed Propensity of Young Adults to Violence Is Irrelevant

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