No. 23-CF-344

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL Received 12/18/2024 03:57 PM

EMANUEL LEYTON PICON, APPELLANT,

V.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, APPELLEE.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR INTERVENOR-APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

THAIS-LYN TRAYER Deputy Solicitor General

*TESSA GELLERSON Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-6635

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

At least two pre-*Bruen* cases analyzed the history of age-based firearm restrictions and upheld age-related laws: *National Rifle Association of America, Inc. v. ATF*, 700 F.3d 185 (5th Cir. 2012), and *United States v. Rene E.*, 583 F.3d 8 (1st Cir. 2009). In *NRA v. ATF*, the Fifth Circuit rejected a challenge to federal prohibitions on the sale of handguns to persons under the age of 21. 700 F.3d at 188, 193-211 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 922(b)(1), (c)(1)). It conducted an extensive historical analysis and concluded that "when the fledgling republic adopted the Second Amendment, an expectation of sensible gun safety regulation was woven into the tapestry of that guarantee," including "categorical restrictions" on firearm possession by certain groups, such as individuals under the age of 21. *Id.* at 200-01.

The Fifth Circuit noted that the challenged laws are "consistent with a longstanding tradition of targeting select groups' ability to access and to use arms for the sake of public safety." *Id.* at 203. The court then proceeded to step two of the pre-*Bruen* inquiry only "in an abundance of caution," and made clear that it was "inclined to uphold the challenged federal laws at step one of [the pre-*Bruen*] analytical framework," which remains good law today. *Id.* at 204; *see Nat'l Rifle Ass'n of Am.*, *Inc. v. McCraw*, 719 F.3d 338, 347 (5th Cir. 2013) (citing *NRA v. ATF* approvingly).

Similarly, in *United States v. Rene E.*, the First Circuit affirmed the constitutionality of a federal law barring firearm possession by individuals under 18 based on "a longstanding tradition of prohibiting juveniles from both receiving and possessing handguns," 583 F.3d at 12, and "evidence that the founding generation would have regarded such laws as consistent with the right to keep and bear arms," *id.* at 16 (citing 18 U.S.C. § 922(x)(2)(A) and 18 U.S.C. § 5032).

Both *NRA* and *Rene E.* remain persuasive post-*Bruen*, as evidenced by *Bruen* itself. *Bruen* simply struck down New York's law conditioning the issuance of a license to carry firearms on an applicant showing a "special need for self-protection." 597 U.S. at 12-13 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Importantly, however, the Court observed that licensing regimes that employ objective qualifications without a special-need characteristic "do not necessarily prevent 'law-abiding, responsible citizens' from exercising their Second

Amendment right to public carry"—meaning that they likely do not infringe that right. *Id.* at 38 n.9 (quoting *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 635). Those "shall-issue" licensing regimes generally require individuals to be at least 21 in order to carry firearms in public, with limited exceptions for the armed forces.² And, critically, Justice Alito's concurrence in *Bruen* underscored that the Court disturbed "nothing about who may lawfully possess a firearm," and federal law therefore continued to "bar[] the sale of a handgun" by federal firearms licensees "to anyone under the age of 21," 597 U.S. at 73 (Alito, J., concurring) (citing 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(b)(1), (c)(1)).

II. The District's Age Qualifications Are Constitutional.

As an initial matter, Leyton does not attempt to challenge the District's licensing and registration schemes wholesale. And he concedes that his challenge is to the District's age qualifications as applied to him, a 20-year-old. Leyton Reply Br. 4 n.4. Indeed, he could not succeed in facially challenging the District's age requirement, which would require "establish[ing that]... no set of circumstances

See Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 13-3112(E)(2); Ark. Code Ann. § 5-73-309(3)(A); Colo. Rev. Stat. § 18-12-203(1)(b); Fla. Stat. § 790.06(2)(b); Ga. Code. Ann. § 16-11-129(b)(2)(A); Idaho Code § 18-3302K(4)(a); 430 III. Comp. Stat. 66/25(1); Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 237.110(4)(c); La. Stat. Ann. § 40:1379.3(C)(4); Mich. Comp. Laws § 28.425b(7)(a); Minn. Stat. § 624.714(2)(b)(2); Miss. Code Ann. § 45-9-101(2)(b)(i); Nev. Rev. Stat. § 202.3657(3)(a)(1); N.M. Stat. Ann. § 29-19-4(A)(3); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 14–415.12(a)(2); Ohio Rev. Code Ann. § 2923.125(D)(1)(b); Or. Rev. Stat. § 166.291(1)(b); Tenn. Code Ann. § 39-17-1351(b)(1); Tex. Gov't Code Ann. § 411.172(a)(2); Utah Code Ann. § 53-5-704(1)(b)(iii); Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-308.02(A); Wash. Rev. Code § 9.41.070(1)(c); W. Va. Code § 61-7-4(b)(3); Wis. Stat. § 175.60(3)(a); Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 6-8-104(b)(ii).

exists under which the Act would be valid." *Rahimi*, 602 U.S. at 693 (citing *United States v. Salerno*, 481 U.S. 739, 745 (1987)). That "heavy burden" would require demonstrating that District's law is unconstitutional with respect to juveniles under the age of 18, *Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 745, but Leyton understandably does not even attempt to press such an argument, *see* PDS Br. 12 n.6.

As for his as-applied challenge, the District's age-related registration and licensing requirements are constitutional as applied to Leyton for either of two reasons: the requirements are consistent with the historical scope of the Second Amendment's text at *Bruen* step one, and in any event, they are consistent with the Nation's historical tradition of firearm regulation at *Bruen* step two.³

A. The District's age restrictions are consistent with the scope of the Second Amendment as historically understood.

Individuals under the age of 21—the historical age of majority—and individuals deemed too dangerous to safely keep and bear arms fall outside of the

If the Court concludes that any portion of the District's age restrictions are unconstitutional, it must sever that portion to preserve the rest of the law. The D.C. Council explicitly adopted severability provisions for its firearms laws. See D.C. Code §§ 22-4516, 7-2507.10. And this Court must "give effect to the valid portion of a partially unconstitutional statute so long as it remains fully operative as a law, and so long as it is not evident from the statutory text and context that [the legislature] would have preferred no statute at all." Exec. Benefits Ins. Agency v. Arkison, 573 U.S. 25, 37 (2014) (cleaned up). Both circumstances apply here and so would save the UF, UA, and CPWL statutes if any provision of the registration or licensing scheme were deemed unconstitutional. Cf. Dubose v. United States, 213 A.3d 599, 604 (D.C. 2019) (severing the "good reason" provision and upholding a CPWL conviction following Wrenn).

historical understanding of the Second Amendment right. Leyton falls within each of these carveouts, and his challenge therefore fails at *Bruen* step one.

1. 20-year-olds, like Leyton, have never fallen within the scope of the Second Amendment.

At *Bruen* step one, the challenger bears the burden of proof. *See Bruen*, 597 U.S. at 24. Leyton does not suggest otherwise. *See* Leyton Br. 16-20.⁴ And he has presented no cogent argument that legislatures cannot disarm 20-year-olds. As the Supreme Court acknowledged in *Heller*, the Second Amendment codified a preexisting right. *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 592. Courts thus must look at the historical understanding of the contours of that right at step one before turning to analogues or exceptions at step two. For instance, in *Heller*, the Court looked to Founding and Reconstruction-era dictionaries and treatises to understand the right's scope. *See*, *e.g.*, *id.* at 581-84; *see also Polis*, 121 F.4th at 114 (cataloging sources that a court may consider at step one). As historically understood, 20-year-olds did not benefit from the right to bear arms, whether because they fell outside the scope of "the

Amicus curiae PDS argues otherwise, PDS Br. 13-14, but it cannot cure Leyton's forfeiture. Nor is PDS correct. The argument that it is the government's burden to show that "adults under the age of 21" fall outside the scope of the Second Amendment, PDS Br. 14, runs counter to Supreme Court precedent in the Second Amendment context and otherwise. See Bruen, 597 U.S. at 24; see generally Kennedy v. Bremerton Sch. Dist., 597 U.S. 507, 524 (2022) (instructing that "a plaintiff bears certain burdens to demonstrate an infringement of his rights" and that "[i]f the plaintiff carries these burdens, the focus then shifts to the defendant"); see also Rocky Mountain Gun Owners v. Polis, 121 F.4th 96, 126 (10th Cir. 2024) (the plaintiff bears the burden at Bruen step one).

People" or because that is simply how society understood the limits of the preexisting right.

A wealth of historical evidence demonstrates that individuals under 21 were historically not entitled to the protections of the Second Amendment. 18- to 20year-olds were long considered legal infants under the supervision of their parents. See, e.g., 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England 451 (1765) ("[F]ull age in male or female, is twenty one years . . . who till that time is an infant, and so styled in law."); 1 Zephaniah Swift, A System of the Laws of the State of Connecticut 213 (Windham, John Byrne pub. 1795) ("Persons within the age of 21, are, in the language of the law denominated infants, but in common speech minors."); 2 James Kent, Commentaries on American Law 191 (1827) (confirming that "the inability of infants to take care of themselves...continues, in contemplation of law, until the infant has attained the age of twenty-one years"); Infant, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) ("An infant in the eyes of the law is a person under the age of twenty-one years." (quoting John Indermaur, *Principles of* the Common Law 195 (Edmund H. Bennett ed., 1st Am. ed. 1878))).

The selection of 21 as the age of majority derives from the assumption at common-law that persons who were not able to reason could not exercise a full suite of rights. *See* 1 William Blackstone, *Commentaries* 121 (the "rights of man" are enjoyed by those "endowed with discernment to know good from evil, and with

power of choosing those measures which appear to him to be most desirable"). Indeed, Blackstone suggested that "an infant [could] do no legal act." *Id.* at 453. Based on this understanding, legislatures have historically set age qualifications for the exercise of a range of civil and political rights, including becoming a naturalized citizen, forming an enforceable contract, petitioning the government, serving on juries, and voting.⁵ Further, while Founding-era citizens were required to serve as "peace officers" when called upon by local authorities, "infants," "madmen," and "idiots" were excluded from such service. John Faucheraud Grimké, *The South-Carolina Justice of Peace* 117 (R. Aitken & Son eds., 1788).

These restrictions on the rights of infants reflected the belief that then, as now, infants lack "[j]udgment" and are not "fit to be trusted by the [p]ublic." From John Adams to James Sullivan, 26 May 1776, Nat'l Archives, tinyurl.com/2z4yp574; see James Madison's Notes of the Constitutional Convention, Tuesday, August 7, 1787, Yale L. Sch. Avalon Project, tinyurl.com/2pz5uuua (Gouverneur Morris, a signer of the Constitution and drafter of its Preamble, likewise warning that minors "want prudence" and "have no will of their own"); 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries

_

See, e.g., Act of Mar. 26, 1790, ch. 4, 1 Stat. 104 (naturalized citizen); Act of Jan. 29, 1795, ch. 20, 1 Stat. 415 (naturalized citizen); Swift, *supra*, at 213-16 (contracts); Albert W. Alschuler & Andrew G. Deiss, *A Brief History of the Criminal Jury in the United States*, 61 U. Chi. L. Rev. 867, 877 n.52 (1994) (juries); Pamela S. Karlan, *Ballots and Bullets: The Exceptional History of the Right to Vote*, 71 U. Cin. L. Rev. 1345, 1345, 1358-59 (2003) (voting).

290 (noting the "imbecility of the child" and that "an infant is not able to take care of himself"); *id.* at 451 (infants "have not discretion enough to manage their own concerns"); *id.* at 15-18 (referring to infancy as "a defect of the understanding").

In addition, "[t]he age of majority at common law was 21." NRA, 700 F.3d at 201. That held true in the American colonies. See Vivian E. Hamilton, Adulthood in Law and Culture, 91 Tul. L. Rev. 55, 64 (2016) (The "American colonies . . . adopted age twenty-one as the near universal age of majority."). As a result, Founding-era parents retained substantial authority to supervise individuals under the age of 21, limiting their rights. See Brown v. Ent. Merchs. Ass'n, 564 U.S. 786, 834 (2011) (Thomas, J., dissenting); 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries 441 (at the age of 21, infants were "enfranchised by arriving at the years of discretion . . . when the empire of the father...gives place to the empire of reason"); John Bouvier, 1 *Institutes of American Law* 148 (1851) (explaining that upon reaching the age of majority "every man is in the full enjoyment of his civil and political rights"). Parents could, for example, limit infants' right of association and reap profits from their labor. 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries 452-53. And infants had "no legal standing to assert a claim in court to vindicate their rights" except through their guardians. See Saul Cornell, "Infants" and Arms Bearing in the Era of the Second Amendment: Making Sense of the Historical Record, Yale L. & Pol'y Rev. (Oct. 26, 2021); 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries 464.

Notably, during the 18th century, "[c]ollege was one of the very few circumstances where minors lived outside of their parents' or a guardian's direct authority." Cornell, *Infants*, *supra*, at 15. While at college, infants retained certain rights, e.g., the right to be free of excessive punishment, but the college's staff assumed in loco parentis status and exercised legal power over infants. 1 William Blackstone, Commentaries 168 n.9; id. 441 ("[A father] may also delegate part of his parental authority . . . to the tutor or schoolmaster of his child; who is the *in loco* parentis, and has such a portion of the power of the parent committed to his charge, viz., that of restraint and correction."). In so doing, colleges in that time prohibited the possession of firearms by students both on and off campus. See, e.g., Cornell, *Infants*, supra, at 15-16 (collecting authorities). To take one specific example: Both Thomas Jefferson and James Madison voted for a resolution at the University of Virginia that prohibited students from keeping or using "weapons or arms of any kind, or gunpowder" "within the precincts of the University." University of Virginia Board of Visitors Minutes, Encyc. VA. (1824), https://tinyurl.com/eap44tae.

Each of these data points are probative of the "historical understanding" of the scope of the Second Amendment, because, as *Heller* emphasized, the Amendment "codified a pre-existing right." *Heller*, 554 U.S. at 592. And each data point suggests that the Founding generation did not view those under 21 as falling within the Amendment's text.

2. The scope of the Second Amendment right has always allowed legislatures to disarm individuals deemed too dangerous to bear arms responsibly.

Age-based qualifications on firearm possession and carry also reflect the broader historical understanding that legislatures could disarm "certain classes of individuals from possessing firearms—those whose possession poses a particular danger to the public." *Rene E.*, 583 F.3d at 15; *see Medina v. Whitaker*, 913 F.3d 152, 159 (D.C. Cir. 2019) ("[T]hose who posed a 'real danger' . . . were proper subjects of disarmament."); *id.* at 159 ("[T]he scope of the Second Amendment was understood to exclude more than just individually identifiable dangerous individuals."); *Kanter*, 919 F.3d at 454, 456 (Barrett, J., dissenting) (detailing "historical evidence" demonstrating that those who "threatened violence" or posed a "risk of public injury" were categorically excluded from the scope of the Second Amendment right).

Prior to *Bruen*, the Supreme Court and other federal courts had already recognized that this longstanding dangerous-persons limitation to the Second Amendment justifies laws that categorically disarm certain groups—for instance, those considered mentally ill. *See Heller*, 554 U.S. at 626; *McDonald v. City of Chicago*, 561 U.S. 742, 786 (2010); *Beers v. Att'y Gen. United States*, 927 F.3d 150, 158 (3d Cir. 2019), *vacated as moot sub nom. Beers v. Barr*, 140 S. Ct. 2758 (2020). And courts made clear that "the legislative role did not end in 1791. That *some*

categorical limits [on the Second Amendment's scope] are proper is part of the original meaning, leaving to the people's elected representatives the filling in of details." *United States v. Skoien*, 614 F.3d 638, 640 (7th Cir. 2010) (emphasis in original). More recently, *Rahimi* reiterated the same principle: "[W]e do not suggest that the Second Amendment prohibits the enactment of laws banning the possession of guns by categories of persons thought by a legislature to present a special danger of misuse" *Rahimi*, 602 U.S. at 698.

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